

**CONSTITUTION & BY-LAWS**  
OF  
***Iglesia Reformada Cristo Redentor***

**PREAMBLE**

We the members of *Iglesia Reformada Cristo Redentor*, Houston, Texas, Ordain and Establish the following articles, to which we voluntarily submit ourselves:

**ARTICLE I: Name**

The name of this church shall be **IGLESIA REFORMADA CRISTO REDENTOR (IRCR)**.

**ARTICLE II: Purpose**

The purpose of this church is to glorify the God of the Scriptures in promoting His Word, edifying and equipping the saints in their ministry, and evangelizing and teaching all nations about our Lord Jesus Christ and His Kingdom. To this end we are committing to proclaim the whole counsel of God's Word-Law especially His glorious gospel of grace in Jesus Christ throughout the world and to proclaim and defend the *"faith once delivered unto the saints"* (Jude 3).

**ARTICLE III: Articles of Faith and Doctrine**

**Section 1      Our Three Forms of Unity**

We do hereby adopt as a reasonable expression of our Christian faith the key doctrinal statements of the Reformed Church, as such; the Belgic Confession (1561), the Heidelberg Catechism (1563), and the Canons of Dort (1618–19), which together are called our *Three Forms of Unity*.

These confessions of faith give a concise statement of biblical doctrine. In no way is it equal to the infallible authority of the Word of God. Nevertheless, it is assistance to us in the confirmation of faith, in the defense of the truth in the face of any controversy, and a means for the edification of believers. In these Confessions the members of our church will have a summary of our faith and by means of Scriptural proofs will be ready to give a reason for the hope that is in them (I Peter 3:15).

**Section 2      Declaration on Masculinity and Femininity**

We believe that:

- A. God created human beings, both male and female, in His own image, with a calling to subdue the earth for His glory, not to dominate their fellow humans or equals (Genesis 1:26-27).

- B. In Christ, both men and women are perfectly equal in dignity, moral value, and position before GOD and Christ (Galatians 3:28; Colossians 3:9-11).
- C. In their personal relationship, men and women are mutually dependent on each other and should serve one another within the framework of truth and with a sense of complementarity in ordered parity (1 Corinthians 11:11-12).
- D. Marriage was designed to be manifest and properly realized between a man and a woman, ideally for life and for the Glory of GOD (Genesis 2:24; Matthew 19:3-9).
- E. Regarding husbands and their sphere of responsibility in marriage, they are called to be a first among equals to serve by loving their wives sacrificially as Christ loved His church (Ephesians 5:25-33).
- F. Regarding wives and their sphere of responsibility in marriage, they are called to a partnership of godly leadership by obeying and submitting to the primary service of their husbands, just as the Church submits to the exemplary service of Christ (Ephesians 5:21-24).
- G. Finally, only men who are called and qualified should be ordained as leaders in the church (1 Timothy 3:1-13), serving as representatives of Christ's service in the Church, while women, representing the Church, are sanctified through the Word and service. This pastoral role does not diminish the collaboration of godly women in ministry but rather encourages it in a complementary manner, without establishing a gender hierarchy, instead emphasizing the proper order of service between both genders (1 Peter 1:1-4; Romans 16:1-16; 1 Corinthians 9:5; 16:15-16).

### **Section 3 Statement on Gender and Sexuality**

- a) Any form of sexual immorality, including but not limited to, adultery, fornication, homosexual behavior, bisexual conduct, transgenderism, bestiality, incest, and use of pornography, is a sin according to God's Word and violates the biblical description of manhood and womanhood as reflecting the image and nature of God in us (Gen 1:26-27; Matt 15:18-20; 1 Cor 6:9-10).
- b) IRCR actively seeks to lead any person engaged in sexually immorality to confession and repentance so that he or she may find a full life of sanctification in Jesus Christ (Acts 3:19-21; Rom 10:9-10; 1 Cor 6:9-11).
- c) In light of the biblical view of its sinfulness, a person who is continuing in sexual immorality is not a fit candidate for membership in or employment on the staff of IRCR.
- d) It is imperative that all persons employed by IRCR in any capacity, or who serve as volunteers, agree to and abide by this statement (Matt 5:16; Phil 2:14-16; 1 Thess 5:22).
- e) If a member of IRCR violates this statement, he or she shall be subject to the discipline of the church as outlined in Article IV, sec 6.

## **ARTICLE IV: Church Membership**

### **Section 1 Requirements for Member**

Any person who professes repentance toward God and faith toward our Lord Jesus Christ, who has been Scripturally baptized, and who expresses substantial agreement with the doctrines, aims, and government of this church, shall be eligible for membership. If the applicant has been a member of another evangelical church, a letter of inquiry into his or her standing with that church will be sent before final acceptance is made.

- a) **CONFESSION OF FAITH**— Any person who meets the above mentioned requirements shall request membership to one of the Elders. The Elders shall then arrange a time and place for meeting with the applicant who shall attend and be questioned as to his or her basic Christian experience, doctrinal beliefs, and seriousness of intention to wholeheartedly support the ministry of this church.
- b) **BY LETTER**— If the applicant is, or has been, a member of another church, special effort will be made to determine the person's standing in that church and his or her reasons for leaving. If a former church raises an objection that the Elders consider valid, the applicant may be denied membership at their discretion. If another church has disciplined one of its members, and that person subsequently comes to IRCR, the Elders will decide whether to honor the discipline of the other church after due consultation with the person concerned and after all appropriate information is sought from the disciplining church.

## **Section 2      Forms of Membership**

- a) **COMMUNICANT MEMBERS** — All who are accepted into the membership of the church on the above mentioned conditions shall be considered members in good standing until such status is changed by one of the conditions set forth in Sections 6 and 7.
- b) **NON-COMMUNICANT MEMBERS** — Children of, or under the care of, communicant members who undertake to rear such children in the "*nurture and admonition of the Lord*", and who endeavor to bring them up in the profession of Christ as Lord, Savior, and King for themselves, should be enrolled as "non-communicant members." Non-communicant members may not receive the Lord's Supper or vote until they become communicant members themselves.
- c) **ASSOCIATE**— Members of other evangelical churches, residing temporarily among us, who are active in the life of the congregation, and for whom worship and serve in their home church is impractical by reasons of distance or other good reason, may be enrolled as "Associate Members" of the congregation. They need not cease to be communicant members of their home churches, and will have all the privileges of worship, fellowship, and service, except that they may not vote at congregational meetings, nor hold the service of elder or deacon in this congregation.
- d) **INACTIVE**— Members become Inactive in one of two ways. 1) Members who fail to attend church for 4 consecutive Lord's Days without the approval of the Elders are automatically moved to Inactive status or 2) Members who are in the process of transferring to another church home and have completed the exit interview (Section 4.B) are Inactive Members.

Inactive members remain under the ecclesiastical authority of the church but may not vote in congregational meetings. Inactive members may be reinstated into active membership by the unanimous consent of the Elders.

### **Section 3 Procedure in Receiving New Members**

When the Elders are satisfied that an applicant has met the requirements for membership, they shall then present the applicant to the congregation at a regular Sunday Service.

### **Section 4 Membership Covenant**

All members of the local church are accepted into such fellowship in the congregation to grow together in the grace and knowledge of our great Triune God and our Lord Jesus Christ as well as in our calling in the Great Commission using all available means of grace.

### **Section 5 Membership Responsibilities and Privileges**

- a) The members of this congregation should be subject to GOD and His inspired Word, the only infallible rule of faith and practice. Also, they should willingly submit to the government and leadership of the Consistory of the church as long as it does not contradict what is established by GOD in His Word. Part of this will be to meet regularly each Lord's day for worship, instruction, prayer and mutual encouragement.
- b) Having established such a covenant of standing together to minister to each other's spiritual and temporal needs, each member may expect to obtain assistance in spiritual growth, in the rearing of covenant children, and in finding and filling a place of ministry and service. All members are entitled to a warm and effectual ministry of Word and Sacrament, and the continuing prayers of fellow members.
- c) It is required that as a whole body of members, we seek the truth, purity, peace, and unity of the church.

### **Section 6 Discipline of Members**

Corrective discipline involves an exhortation to disorderly conduct or heretical doctrine that is opposed to the church's life and faith. Reasonable efforts shall be made to clear up difficulties and remove offenses before further action is taken. Corrective discipline has as its aim the glory of God, the welfare and purity of the church, and the spiritual growth of the offender.

Members of this church who shall err in doctrine or conduct shall be subject to dismissal according to Matt 18:15-18, Gal 6:1, 1 Cor 5:1-5; 1Tim 1:18-20; 5:19-20; 2 Tim 2:16-18; Jam 5:19-20.

Before such dismissal, however:

- a) It shall be the duty of any member of this church who has knowledge of the erring members heresy or misconduct to warn and to correct such erring members in private, seeking his or her repentance and restoration.

- b) If said erring member does not heed this warning, then the warning member shall again go to the erring member accompanied by one or two witnesses to warn and correct such erring member, seeking his or her repentance and restoration.
- c) If said erring member still refuses to heed this additional warning, then, it shall be brought to the attention of the Elders.
- d) The Elders, upon careful and prayerful investigation, shall announce it to the church.
- e) If said erring member refuses to heed the warning of the Elders and the church, he or she shall be publicly dismissed from the church.
- f) There shall be no appeal to any court from that decision.
- g) It is understood that this process will continue to conclusion even if the erring member leaves the church or otherwise seeks to withdraw from membership to avoid the discipline process.
- h) If such member, after dismissal, heeds the warning, demonstrates repentance, and requests restoration of membership to the Elders and before the church, he shall be publicly restored to membership.

### **Section 7     Removal from Membership**

A person's membership in the visible church ordinarily terminates in one of four ways:

- a) BY PHYSICAL DEATH —When a member of the Church is removed from our midst by death, His/her name shall automatically be removed from the membership roll.
- b) BY TRANSFER —When a member in good standing wishes to transfer their membership to another church, the Elders will send a letter of standing to the new church home. No such letter may be given for a member who is at the time under the corrective discipline of the church; rather, the church requesting a letter shall be notified of the discipline.

Members seeking transfer are to follow the following steps:

1. Before members absent themselves from Lord's Day services, members seeking to leave the church are to request a meeting with the Elders in which they will state their desire and reasons for leaving.
2. The Elders will acknowledge the decision of the member to begin visiting other churches as long as the member is not under discipline and there are no known issues between them and others in the congregation (cf. Matt. 18:15-20).
3. Between the time that a member indicates their intention to begin to visit other churches and the time said member joins another church, the member is considered an 'inactive member' (See Section 2.D).
4. During the time that members are looking for a new church home, the Elders will attempt to remain in contact by telephone or email to see how things are going in their search for a new church home.

The failure for a member to follow these steps may result in dismissal from membership.

Furthermore, if after 6 months, the member has not transferred his or her membership to

another church home, the Elders, on behalf of the congregation, may dismiss them from membership.

- c) **BY DISMISSAL** —Dismissal is the removal of a person from the membership roles of the church. A member who has been dismissed is disqualified from partaking in the Lord's Supper until such a time as they shall be received by the Elders. Members under censure may not be dismissed.
- d) **BY EXCOMMUNICATION** —According to the teaching of Scripture, a congregation must remove from its fellowship and visible membership one who insists on teaching or holding heretical doctrine or who blatantly and persistently conducts oneself in a manner inconsistent with one's Christian profession (Mt. 18:15-20; 1 Cor. 5:1ff). Excommunication is a last resort, to be used only after the Elders are in agreement that all other means of reclaiming the offending party have been exhausted. Its ultimate purpose is to promote the glory of God, to maintain the purity of Christ's church, and to reclaim a wayward person.

In addition to the member being removed from membership in the church, all other members of the church agree to cut off all fellowship with former members who have been excommunicated (Rom. 16:17-18; Tit. 3:10-11) .

The Elders must be in agreement for a member to be brought before the church for excommunication.

### **Section 8 Restoration of Membership**

If a member, after dismissal, heeds the warning, demonstrates repentance, and requests reinstatement, he or she shall be publicly restored to membership. Any such request shall be made to the Elders body.

### **Section 9 Sacraments of the Church**

God has instituted through Jesus Christ for the Church two sacraments; the holy Baptism and the Lord's Supper.

- a) **THE HOLY BAPTISM A SIGN** —The sprinkling of the water signifies the washing away of our sins through the blood of our Savior. (Ezek. 36:25, I Cor. 10:2, Matt. 28:19, I Peter 3:21).
- b) **THE LORD'S SUPPER IS A SIGN** —The broken bread and the wine poured out signify the broken body and shed blood of Christ, by which we are spiritually nourished and fed. (I Cor. 11:26).

## **ARTICLE V: Attendants**

### **Section 1 General Statement**

Jesus Christ alone is the Head of His Church and under His authority He has ordained that local churches be blessed through formal leadership in ministry. Therefore, it is the duty of the church to seek and discover among them those to whom Christ the Lord has imparted the gifts

necessary for this function, and such persons having been recognized, tested, and formally installed (Article IX. Sec5), we owe voluntary submission to their service, leadership, and ministry. Christ has ordained that the administration of local churches be carried out through the services of pastors, elders, deacons, and helpers.

All Pastors, Elders, Deacons and Fellow-workers must substantially subscribe to *Our Three Forms of Unity* and the Constitution of this church (Article III. Sec1). Should a Pastor, Elder, Deacon or Fellow-worker at any time move from this position, he is under spiritual and moral obligation to make this known to the Elders.

## **Section 2. Eldership, Deacons and the Fellow-workers**

### **PASTORS**

Among the Elders are those whom we call Pastors or ministers:

(1) These are people who are set apart for prayer and the study of the Word. In conjunction with the other Elders, the Pastors shall have general oversight of all the church and they must use their gifts and their call to equip all the members of this congregation to their personal ministry and call under God's Word.

(2) The Pastors or ministers, being by Scriptural terminology a teaching and ruling Elders, must evidence the personal, domestic, and ministerial qualifications for this service as set forth in I Timothy 3:1-7 and in Titus 1:5-9.

(3) The Pastors shall seek to discharge all the functions of their service as set forth in the Scriptures and in keeping with the exercise of their own distinctive gifts of ministry.

### **ELDERS**

Among us are those whom we call Elders:

(1) Elders are people that are called to be responsible for the spiritual ministrations of the church, the implementation of church discipline, and watching over the souls of the members as those who must give account to God for this responsibility. They shall exercise the oversight of the church in all its ministries and functions.

(2) Anyone desiring the service of an Elder must evidence the personal, domestic, and ministerial qualifications as set forth in I Timothy 3:1-7 and in Titus 1:5-9.

(3) Elders must seek to discharge their duties as set forth in the Scriptures, particularly such passages as Acts 20:17, 28, I Peter 5:1-4, and Hebrews 13:17.

(4) While every Elder bears spiritual leadership (and must be "apt to teach"), some will be more engaged in formal and public teaching, while others will be more exclusively engaged in the details of ruling by their services to others (I Timothy 5:17). Pastors and Elders are subject to each other, none having superior authority.

**DEACONS**

Among us are those whom we call Deacons:

(1) Deacons are people that are called to be responsible for the business and basic affairs of the church, which are to be administered with spiritual grace and in cooperation with and subjection to the Eldership. They are to minister mercy toward those in physical need, especially within the church. They are to maintain the church premises.

(2) Deacons must evidence the qualifications of the service as set forth in I Timothy 3:8-13.

**FELLOW-WORKERS**

Among us are those whom we call Fellow-Workers:

(1) The Fellow-workers are those individuals, men or women, who contribute and collaborate with their gifts and talents in the congregation and they show their call to the local ministry as set forth in Romans 16, Philippians 4:2-3 and I Corinthians 16:15-16.

(2) These people should be recognized as coworkers in our congregation by their ministries and functions in the local church.

**Section 3 The Consistory**

A. We believe that it is fitting that those who have been elected as superintendents of the church should wisely consult with one another as to how the whole body should be properly governed, without departing from what our Lord Jesus Christ has instituted in His Word. Thus, sound government among us should be carried out by the good judgment and good example of the leadership of ministers, elders, deacons, and co-workers under the Word of God and the Holy Spirit.

B. The Consistory is the only assembly in the local church whose decisions possess functional authority within the congregation, since the Consistory receives its authority directly from Christ through its service to others, and is therefore directly accountable to Christ and the church. (Matthew 16:19, 1 Peter 5:15, Hebrews 13:7, Heidelberg Catechism Lord's Day 31).

**Section 4 Appointment and Removal of Attendants**

A. The appointment of Elders, Deacons or Fellow-Workers for service within the local church is the responsibility of the local church under the guidance of God's Word and the Holy Spirit. The Lord's appointment is recognized both by the inward conviction of the individual involved, and by approval of the church and the Elders observing the possession of those gifts and graces required by Scripture for the service concerned. The existing Elders shall recognize those who are already functioning in the use of their gifts and bring such before the church for recognition. All candidates must be a member of the church for a period of at least one year before being placed in nomination.



B. The recognition of an attendant is a matter of such importance that it should never be dealt with without much prayerful waiting upon God and an honest perusal of the relevant passages of Scripture and a frank evaluation of those who are being considered as potential attendant. Each member of the congregation has a spiritual responsibility to be intelligently informed regarding the above mentioned matters. It should be the desire of the congregation to come to one mind regarding those attendants to whom they must submit in the Lord, but should such unanimity not be fully realized, no less than a 2/3 majority of the members present and voting shall be required for the election of an attendant (Article IX, Sec5, 6).

C. Following the final recognition of an attendant, there shall be a portion of a regular worship service set aside, at which time the attendant(s) shall be formally set apart for his responsibilities by the prayer of the whole church and the laying on of the hands of any existing Eldership.

D. An attendant may only be removed from service should he neglect his duty, be guilty of sinful behavior, fall into error, or hold views contrary to our confession and the local constitution. The Elders are to lead in the matter with great caution, firmness and impartiality (I Timothy 5:19). The removal of an attendant due to negligence or sin is ultimately determined by the congregation in a 2/3 majority vote (Article IX, Sec5, 6).

E. An attendant unable to fulfill his commitments should relinquish his duties or take a leave of absence from his service. An attendant requesting a leave of absence must provide the reasons for and the timeframe of their leave. While on a leave of absence, the attendant relinquishes all authority and responsibilities of service. Leave of absences must be approved by the Elders.

G. If at any time an attendant shall make an application to be released from his service, he shall do so in writing to the Elders. Upon receiving notice of resignation, the Elders shall inform the church in a specially called business meeting.

## **ARTICLE VIII: Official Board**

### **Section 1      Function**

The economical governing of the church and the conducting of its business, the management and control of its property, real and personal, and the general supervision of its work shall, under the direction of God's Word and the Holy Spirit, be vested in the Official Board.

### **Section 2      Members**

The Official Board shall consist of the Elder(s) and Deacon(s). The Pastor shall act as chairman. The Board shall choose one of its number to act as Recording Secretary.

### **Section 3      Meetings**

The Board shall meet at least once a quarter to discuss and act upon the general business of the church.

## **ARTICLE IX: Congregational Meetings**

### **Section 1 General Statement**

All Members should regard their presence at a duly called congregational meeting with the same seriousness with which they would regard their attendance at a stated service of worship. The Lord is present in power at the gathering together of the church, and therefore all meetings should be carried out in a spirit of worship and unity. Every church meeting shall begin and end with prayer.

### **Section 2 Notice of Meetings**

Notice of all congregational meetings shall be given at regular worship services on the two successive Sundays immediately prior to the meetings. In an emergency, a meeting may be called on shorter notice by notifying each member of the time, place, and purpose of the congregational meeting. A member will be considered "notified" when reached by telephone (either in person or via voicemail) or notified by email. Congregational meetings in which there is no business to be transacted by vote may be called at the discretion of the Elders without previous notice.

### **Section 3 Number of Meetings**

Congregational meetings shall be held when needed for the reception of reports and the transaction of such other business as may properly be brought before the congregation. A congregational meeting shall be held as soon as possible after the close of each calendar year and shall be called the Annual Congregational Meeting. The adoption of a budget shall take place at the Annual Congregational Meeting.

### **Section 4 Method of Calling Meetings**

It shall be the right and responsibility of the Elders to call all congregational meetings. The Elders shall arrange the details of all congregational meetings and see that all possible preparation for their successful conduct is made. Nothing shall be brought before the church at church meetings except through the Eldership.

### **Section 5 Quorum for voting for service Attendants**

The voting members present at any constitutionally called congregational meeting shall be considered a quorum for voting for the attendants. It should be our goal to seek purity, peace, and unity of the church when we select those to whom Christ the Lord has imparted the necessary gifts for service bearing in the local church (Article V). However, in such situations

where unanimity is not realized, no less than a 2/3 majority of those voting is required for a motion to carry.

### **Section 6     Voting Eligibility**

Voting is to be done by all the active members of the congregation who must also be 20 years old or older to vote (Numbers 1:3, Act 1:14). Non-members who may be present at congregational meetings by special invitation have no speaking or voting privileges and must remain silent on all matters unless invited by the Elders and agreed to by the congregation to speak on certain matters.

### **ARTICLE X: Dissolution**

In case of dissolution of the church organization, the property and all assets shall be sold. From the proceeds, first all current and long-term promises: obligations of the church shall be paid. Secondly, all remaining funds shall be directed by the Official Board (see Article VIII) to such one or more Christian organizations qualified under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. This church shall be considered dissolved if so decided by a 2/3 majority vote at a congregational meeting (see Article IX).

### **ARTICLE XI: Amendments**

Amendments to this Constitution may be made by the elders and adopted by a 2/3 majority vote of the congregation at any regular congregational meeting or special meeting called for this purpose, provided in either case that such amendment shall be distributed in written form to the membership at least two weeks prior to such meeting. An opportunity shall be given for questions and discussion of the proposed amendments in a congregational meeting at least one week prior to the vote.

## **CONSTITUCIÓN Y ESTATUTOS**

DE

### ***Iglesia Reformada Cristo Redentor***

### **PREÁMBULO**

Nosotros los miembros de la *Iglesia Reformada Cristo Redentor*, Houston, Texas, Ordenamos y Establecemos los siguientes artículos, a los cuales voluntariamente nos sometemos:

### **ARTICULO I: Nombre**

El nombre de esta iglesia será IGLESIA REFORMADA CRISTO REDENTOR (IRCR).

## **ARTÍCULO II: Propósito**

El propósito de esta iglesia es glorificar al Dios de las Escrituras promoviendo Su Palabra, edificando y equipando a los santos en su ministerio, evangelizando y enseñando a todas las naciones acerca de nuestro Señor Jesucristo y Su Reino. Con este fin nos comprometemos a proclamar por todo el mundo todo el consejo de la Palabra-Ley de Dios, especialmente Su glorioso Evangelio de gracia en Jesucristo, y a proclamar y defender la "fe que ha sido una vez dada a los santos" (Judas 3).

## **ARTÍCULO III: Artículos de Fe y Doctrina**

### **Sección 1 Nuestras Tres Formas de Unidad**

Por la presente adoptamos como expresión razonable de nuestra fe cristiana las declaraciones doctrinales claves de la Iglesia Reformada, como son: la Confesión Belga (1561), el Catecismo de Heidelberg (1563) y los Cánones de Dort (1618-19), que en conjunto se denominan nuestras Tres Formas de Unidad.

Estas confesiones de fe ofrecen una declaración concisa de la doctrina bíblica. En ningún caso equivale a la autoridad infalible de la Palabra de Dios. Sin embargo, son una ayuda en la confirmación de la fe, en la defensa de la verdad ante cualquier controversia, y un medio para la edificación de los creyentes. En estas Confesiones los miembros de nuestra iglesia tendrán un resumen de nuestra fe y por medio de pruebas Escriturales estarán listos para dar razón de la esperanza que hay en ellos (I Pedro 3:15).

### **Sección 2 Declaración sobre la masculinidad y la feminidad**

Creemos que:

- A. DIOS creó a los seres humanos, tanto hombres como mujeres, a Su propia imagen, con el llamado a sojuzgar la tierra para Su gloria, no a dominar a sus semejantes o iguales (Génesis 1:26-27).
- B. En Cristo, tanto hombres como mujeres son perfectamente iguales tanto en dignidad y valor moral como en posición ante DIOS y Cristo (Gálatas 3:28; Colosenses 3:9-11).
- C. En su relación personal, el hombre y la mujer dependen mutuamente uno del otro y deben servirse mutuamente dentro del marco de la verdad y con un sentido de complementariedad en paridad ordenada (1 Corintios 11:11-12).
- D. En cuanto al matrimonio, éste fue diseñado para ser manifiesto y realizado correctamente entre un hombre y una mujer y el ideal es que éste sea de por vida y para la Gloria de DIOS (Génesis 2:24; Mateo 19:3-9).
- E. En cuanto a los maridos y su esfera de responsabilidad en el matrimonio, ellos son llamados a ser los primeros entre iguales para servir amando a sus esposas sacrificialmente como Cristo amó a Su iglesia (Efesios 5:25-33).

- F. En cuanto a las esposas y su esfera de responsabilidad en el matrimonio, ellas son llamadas a un compañerismo de liderazgo piadoso obedeciendo y sujetándose al servicio primario de sus esposos así como la Iglesia se somete al servicio ejemplar de Cristo (Efesios 5:21-24).
- G. Finalmente, sólo los hombres que son llamados y calificados deben ser ordenados como líderes en la iglesia (1 Timoteo 3:1-13), sirviendo como representantes del servicio de Cristo en la Iglesia, mientras que las mujeres, representando a la Iglesia, son santificadas a través de la Palabra y el servicio. Este papel pastoral no disminuye la colaboración de las mujeres piadosas en el ministerio, sino que la fomenta de manera complementaria, sin establecer una jerarquía de género, sino enfatizando el orden apropiado de servicio entre ambos géneros (1 Pedro 1:1-4; Romanos 16:1-16; 1 Corintios 9:5; 16:15-16).

### **Sección 3 Declaración sobre el género y la sexualidad**

- H. Cualquier forma de inmoralidad sexual, incluyendo pero no limitado a, adulterio, fornicación, conducta homosexual, conducta bisexual, transgenerismo, bestialidad, incesto y uso de pornografía, es un pecado según la Palabra de Dios y viola la descripción bíblica de la masculinidad y la feminidad como reflejo de la imagen y naturaleza de DIOS en nosotros (Génesis 1:26-27; Mateo 15:18-20; 1 Corintios 6:9-10).
- I. IRCR busca activamente llevar a cualquier persona involucrada en inmoralidad sexual a la confesión y al arrepentimiento para que pueda encontrar una vida plena de santificación en Jesucristo (Hechos 3:19-21; Rom 10:9-10; 1 Cor 6:9-11).
- J. A la luz de la visión bíblica de su pecaminosidad, una persona que continúa en la inmoralidad sexual no es un candidato apto para la membresía o el empleo en el personal del IRCR.
- K. Es imperativo que todas las personas empleadas por el IRCR en cualquier capacidad, o que sirvan como voluntarios, acepten y acaten esta declaración sobre el género y la sexualidad (Mt 5:16; Fil 2:14-16; 1 Tes 5:22).
- L. Si un miembro del IRCR viola esta declaración, él o ella estará sujeto a la disciplina de la iglesia como se indica en el artículo IV, sección 6.

## **ARTÍCULO IV: Membresía de la Iglesia**

### **Sección 1 Requisitos para ser Miembro**

Cualquier persona que profese arrepentimiento hacia Dios y fe hacia nuestro Señor Jesucristo, que haya sido bautizado bíblicamente, y que exprese un acuerdo substancial con las doctrinas, objetivos y gobierno de esta iglesia, será elegible para la membresía. Si el solicitante ha sido miembro de otra iglesia cristiana, se le enviará una carta investigando su situación con esa iglesia antes de hacer la aceptación final.

- A. CONFESIÓN DE FE- Toda persona que reúna los requisitos arriba mencionados solicitará la afiliación a uno de los Ancianos. Los ancianos fijarán una fecha y lugar para reunirse con el solicitante, quien asistirá y será interrogado acerca de su experiencia

cristiana básica, sus creencias doctrinales y la seriedad de su intención de apoyar de todo corazón el ministerio de esta iglesia local.

- B. POR CARTA- Si el solicitante es, o ha sido, miembro de otra iglesia, se hará un esfuerzo especial para determinar la posición de la persona en esa iglesia y sus razones para dejarla. Si una iglesia anterior presenta una objeción que los Ancianos consideren válida, se podrá negar la membresía al solicitante a su discreción. Si otra iglesia ha disciplinado a uno de sus miembros, y esa persona posteriormente viene al IRCR, los Ancianos decidirán si honrar la disciplina de la otra iglesia después de la debida consulta con la persona afectada y después de que toda la información apropiada sea solicitada a la iglesia disciplinadora.

### **Sección 2 Formas de Membresía**

- A. MIEMBROS COMUNICANTES - Todos los que sean aceptados como miembros de la iglesia en las condiciones arriba mencionadas serán considerados miembros en regla hasta que tal condición sea cambiada por una de las condiciones establecidas en las Secciones 6 y 7.
- B. MIEMBROS NO-COMUNICANTES - Los hijos de, o bajo el cuidado de, miembros comunicantes que se comprometen a criar a tales niños en la "crianza y amonestación del Señor", y que se esfuerzan por criarlos en la profesión de Cristo como Señor, Salvador y Rey para sí mismos, deben ser inscritos como "miembros no-comunicantes". Los miembros no comulgantes no pueden recibir la Cena del Señor ni votar hasta que se conviertan en miembros comulgantes por sí mismos.
- C. ASOCIADOS- Los miembros de otras iglesias cristianas, que residen temporalmente entre nosotros, que son activos en la vida de la congregación, y para quienes el culto y el servicio en su iglesia de origen es impracticable por razones de distancia u otra buena razón, pueden ser inscritos como "miembros asociados" de la congregación. No es necesario que dejen de ser miembros comulgantes de sus iglesias de origen, y tendrán todos los privilegios de culto, comunión y servicio, excepto que no podrán votar en las reuniones de la congregación, ni desempeñar el servicio de anciano o diácono en esta congregación.
- D. INACTIVO- Los miembros se convierten en inactivos en una de dos maneras. 1) Miembros que dejan de asistir a la iglesia por 4 Días del Señor consecutivos sin la aprobación de los Ancianos son automáticamente movidos al estatus de Inactivo o 2) Miembros que están en el proceso de transferirse a otra iglesia y han completado la entrevista de salida son Miembros Inactivos (Sección 4.B).

Los miembros inactivos permanecen bajo la autoridad eclesiástica de la iglesia pero no pueden votar en las reuniones de la congregación. Los miembros inactivos pueden ser reintegrados a la membresía activa por el consentimiento unánime de los Ancianos.

### **Sección 3 Procedimiento para recibir nuevos miembros**

Cuando los Ancianos estén convencidos de que un solicitante ha cumplido con los requisitos para ser miembro, lo presentarán a la congregación en un servicio dominical regular.

#### **Sección 4 Pacto de Membresía**

Todos los miembros de la iglesia local son aceptados en dicha comunión en la congregación para crecer juntos en la gracia y en el conocimiento de nuestro gran Trino Dios y de nuestro Señor Jesucristo como también en nuestro llamado en la Gran Comisión usando todos los medios de gracia disponibles.

#### **Sección 5 Responsabilidades y Privilegios de los Miembros**

- A. Los miembros de esta congregación deben estar sujetos a DIOS y a Su Palabra inspirada, la única regla infalible de fe y práctica. También, deben someterse voluntariamente al gobierno y liderazgo del Consistorio de la iglesia siempre y cuando no contradiga lo establecido por DIOS en Su Palabra. Parte de ello será reunirse regularmente cada día del Señor para el culto, la instrucción, la oración y el estímulo mutuo.
- B. Habiendo establecido dicha alianza de estar juntos para atender a las necesidades espirituales y temporales de los demás, cada miembro puede esperar obtener ayuda en el crecimiento espiritual, en la crianza de los hijos del pacto y en la búsqueda y ocupación de un lugar de ministerio y servicio. Todos los miembros tienen derecho a un ministerio cálido y eficaz de la Palabra y los Sacramentos, y a las oraciones continuas de los demás miembros.
- C. Se requiere que como un cuerpo entero de miembros, busquemos la verdad, la pureza, la paz y la unidad de la iglesia.

#### **Sección 6 Disciplina de los Miembros**

La disciplina correctiva implica una exhortación a la conducta desordenada o doctrina herética que se opone a la vida y fe de la iglesia. Se harán esfuerzos razonables para aclarar las dificultades y eliminar las ofensas antes de tomar otras medidas. La disciplina correctiva tiene por objeto la gloria de DIOS, el bienestar y la pureza de la iglesia, y el crecimiento espiritual del ofensor.

Los miembros de esta iglesia que yerren en doctrina o conducta estarán sujetos a destitución de acuerdo con Mt 18:15-18, Gál 6:1, 1 Co 5:1-5; 1 Ti 1:18-20; 5:19-20; 2 Ti 2:16-18; Stg 5:19-20.

Sin embargo, antes de tal destitución:

- A. Será deber de cualquier miembro de esta iglesia que tenga conocimiento del error o mala conducta del miembro errante, advertir y corregir en privado, llamándole a su arrepentimiento y restauración.

- B. Si dicho miembro errante no hace caso a esta advertencia, entonces el miembro que le advirtió deberá ir de nuevo al miembro errante acompañado de uno o dos testigos para advertir y corregir a dicho miembro errante, buscando su arrepentimiento y restauración.
- C. Si dicho miembro errante sigue negándose a prestar atención a esta advertencia adicional, entonces, se pondrá en conocimiento de los Ancianos.
- D. Los Ancianos, después de una investigación cuidadosa y en oración, lo anunciarán a la iglesia.
- E. Si dicho miembro errante se niega a prestar atención a la advertencia de los Ancianos y de la iglesia, será expulsado públicamente de la iglesia.
- F. Esta decisión no podrá ser recurrida ante ningún tribunal.
- G. Queda entendido que este proceso continuará hasta su conclusión, incluso si el miembro errante abandona la iglesia o de otra manera trata de retirarse de la membresía para evitar el proceso de disciplina.
- H. Si dicho miembro, después de la expulsión, presta atención a la advertencia, demuestra arrepentimiento y solicita la restauración de la membresía a los Ancianos y ante la iglesia, será restaurado públicamente a la membresía.

### **Sección 7 Expulsión de la condición de miembro**

La membresía de una persona en la iglesia visible ordinariamente termina en una de cuatro maneras:

- A. POR MUERTE FÍSICA - Cuando un miembro de la Iglesia es removido de nuestro medio por muerte, su nombre será automáticamente removido de la lista de miembros.
- B. POR TRASLADO - Cuando un miembro en regla desee trasladar su membresía a otra iglesia, los Ancianos enviarán una carta de baja a la nueva iglesia. Dicha carta no podrá ser entregada a un miembro que en ese momento esté bajo la disciplina correctiva de la iglesia; en su lugar, la iglesia que solicita la carta será notificada de la disciplina.

Los miembros que soliciten el traslado deberán seguir los siguientes pasos:

1. Antes de que los miembros se ausenten de los cultos del Día del Señor, los miembros que deseen abandonar la iglesia deberán solicitar una reunión con los Ancianos en la que expondrán su deseo y las razones para abandonar la iglesia.
2. Los Ancianos reconocerán la decisión del miembro de comenzar a visitar otras iglesias siempre y cuando el miembro no esté bajo disciplina y no haya problemas conocidos en la congregación (cf. Mt. 18:15-20).
3. Entre el momento en que un miembro indica su intención de comenzar a visitar otras iglesias y el momento en que dicho miembro se une a otra iglesia, el miembro es considerado 'miembro inactivo' (Ver Sección 2.D).



4. Durante el tiempo que los miembros estén buscando una nueva iglesia, los Ancianos intentarán mantenerse en contacto por teléfono o correo electrónico para ver cómo van las cosas en su búsqueda de una nueva iglesia.

Si un miembro no sigue estos pasos, puede ser expulsado de la Iglesia. Además, si después de 6 meses, el miembro no ha transferido su membresía a otra iglesia local, los Ancianos, en nombre de la congregación, pueden expulsarlo de la membresía.

- C. POR DESPIDO - El despido es la remoción de una persona de las funciones de membresía de la iglesia. Un miembro que ha sido despedido es descalificado de participar en la Cena del Señor hasta el momento en que sean recibidos por los Ancianos y ante la iglesia. Los miembros bajo censura no pueden ser despedidos.
- D. POR EXCOMUNICACIÓN - De acuerdo con la enseñanza de las Escrituras, una congregación debe remover de su comunión y membresía visible a uno que insiste en enseñar o sostener doctrina herética o que descarada y persistentemente se conduce de una manera inconsistente con su profesión cristiana (Mt. 18:15-20; 1 Cor. 5:1ss). La excomunión es un último recurso necesario, que se utilizará sólo después de que los Ancianos estén de acuerdo en que se han agotado todos los demás medios de reclamar a la parte infractora. Su fin último es promover la gloria de DIOS, mantener la pureza de la Iglesia de Cristo y recuperar a una persona descarriada.

Además de retirar al miembro de la membresía de la iglesia, todos los demás miembros de la iglesia están de acuerdo en cortar toda comunión con los antiguos miembros que han sido excomulgados (Rom. 16:17-18; Tit. 3:10-11). También, los Ancianos deben estar de acuerdo para que un miembro sea llevado ante la iglesia para su excomunión.

### **Sección 8 Restauración de la membresía**

Si un miembro, después de la expulsión, presta atención a la advertencia, demuestra arrepentimiento y solicita la reintegración, será restaurado públicamente a la congregación. Dicha solicitud se hará al cuerpo de Ancianos.

### **Sección 9 Sacramentos de la Iglesia**

Dios ha instituido por medio de Jesucristo para la Iglesia dos sacramentos: el santo Bautismo y la Santa Cena.

- A. EL SANTO BAUTISMO SIENDO UN SIGNO DEL PACTO - La aspersion del agua significa el lavamiento de nuestros pecados por medio de la sangre de nuestro Salvador Jesucristo. (Ezequiel 36:25, 1 Corintios 10:2, Mateo 28:19, 1 Pedro 3:21).
- B. LA CENA DEL SEÑOR ES UN SIGNO DE COMUNIÓN EN EL PACTO -El pan partido y el vino derramado significan el cuerpo partido y la sangre derramada de Cristo, por los cuales somos nutridos y alimentados espiritualmente (I Cor. 11:26).

## **ARTÍCULO V: Liderazgo**

### **Sección 1 Declaración General**

Sólo Jesucristo es la Cabeza de Su Iglesia y bajo Su autoridad Él ha ordenado que las iglesias locales sean bendecidas por medio de un liderazgo formal en el ministerio. Por lo tanto, es deber de la iglesia buscar y descubrir entre ellos, a aquellos a quienes Cristo el Señor ha impartido los dones necesarios para esta función, y habiéndose reconocido, probado e instalado formalmente a dichas personas (Artículo IX. Sec5), nos debemos sometimiento voluntario a su servicio, liderazgo y ministerio. Cristo ha ordenado que la administración de las iglesias locales se lleve a cabo mediante los servicios de pastores, ancianos, diáconos y colaboradores.

Todos los Pastores, Ancianos, Diáconos y Colaboradores deben suscribir sustancialmente a Nuestras Tres Formas de Unidad y a la Constitución de esta iglesia (Artículo III. Sec1). Si en algún momento un Pastor, Anciano, Diácono o Colaborador se aparta de esta posición, tiene la obligación espiritual y moral de comunicarlo a los Ancianos.

### **Sección 2 Ancianos, Diáconos y Colaboradores**

#### **PASTORES**

Entre los Ancianos están los que llamamos Pastores o ministros:

- (1) Son personas apartadas para la oración y el estudio de la Palabra. En conjunto con los otros Ancianos, los Pastores tendrán la supervisión general de toda la iglesia y deben usar sus dones y su llamado para equipar a todos los miembros de esta congregación a su ministerio personal y llamado bajo la Palabra de DIOS.
- (2) Los Pastores o ministros, siendo por terminología Escritural Ancianos aptos para enseñar y gobernantes, deben evidenciar las calificaciones personales, domésticas y ministeriales para este servicio como se establece en I Timoteo 3:1-7 y en Tito 1:5-9.
- (3) Los Pastores procurarán desempeñar todas las funciones de su servicio según lo establecido en las Escrituras y de acuerdo con el ejercicio de sus propios dones distintivos de ministerio.

#### **ANCIANOS**

Entre nosotros están aquellos a quienes llamamos Ancianos:

- (1) Los ancianos son personas llamadas a ser responsables de los ministerios espirituales de la iglesia, de la implementación de la disciplina eclesiástica, y de velar por las almas de los miembros como aquellos que deben dar cuenta a Dios de esta responsabilidad. Ellos ejercerán la supervisión de la iglesia en todos sus ministerios y funciones.

(2) Cualquiera que desee servir como Anciano debe demostrar las cualidades personales, domésticas y ministeriales establecidas en I Timoteo 3:1-7 y en Tito 1:5-9.

(3) Los ancianos deben procurar desempeñar sus deberes según lo establecido en las Escrituras, particularmente en pasajes como Hechos 20:17, 28, I Pedro 5:1-4 y Hebreos 13:17.

(4) Mientras que cada Anciano lleva el liderazgo espiritual (y debe ser "apto para enseñar"), algunos se dedicarán más a la enseñanza formal y pública, mientras que otros se dedicarán más exclusivamente a los detalles de gobernar por medio de sus servicios a otros (I Timoteo 5:17). Los pastores y los ancianos están sujetos unos a otros, ninguno tiene autoridad superior sobre otros.

## **DIÁCONOS**

Entre nosotros están aquellos a quienes llamamos Diáconos:

(1) Los Diáconos son personas llamadas a ser responsables de los negocios y asuntos básicos de la iglesia, los cuales deben ser administrados con gracia espiritual y en cooperación y sujeción a los Ancianos. Deben ministrar misericordia a las personas con necesidades físicas, especialmente dentro de la iglesia. También deben mantener el funcionamiento de las instalaciones de la iglesia local.

(2) Los diáconos deben demostrar las calificaciones del servicio según lo establecido en I Timoteo 3:8-13.

## **COLABORADORES**

Entre nosotros están aquellos a quienes llamamos colaboradores:

(1) Los Colaboradores son aquellos individuos, hombres o mujeres, que contribuyen y colaboran con sus dones y talentos en la congregación y muestran su llamado al ministerio local como se establece en Romanos 16, Filipenses 4:2-3 y I Corintios 16:15-16.

(2) Estas personas deben ser reconocidas como colaboradores en nuestra congregación por sus ministerios y funciones en la iglesia local.

## **Sección 3 El Consistorio**

- A. Creemos que es conveniente que los que han sido elegidos como superintendentes de la iglesia consulten sabiamente entre sí cómo se debe gobernar convenientemente a todo el cuerpo, sin apartarse de lo que nuestro Señor Jesucristo ha instituido en Su Palabra. De esta manera, un gobierno sano entre nosotros debe ser llevado a cabo por el buen juicio y el buen ejemplo del liderazgo de los ministros, ancianos, diáconos y los colaboradores bajo la Palabra de Dios y el Espíritu Santo.
- B. El Consistorio es la única asamblea en la iglesia local cuyas decisiones poseen autoridad funcional dentro de la congregación, ya que el Consistorio recibe su autoridad

directamente de Cristo a través de su servicio a los demás, y por lo tanto es directamente responsable ante Cristo y la iglesia (Mateo 16:19, 1 Pedro 5:15, Hebreos 13:7, Catecismo de Heidelberg Día del Señor 31).

#### **Sección 4 Nombramiento y Remoción del liderazgo**

- A. El nombramiento de Ancianos, Diáconos o Colaboradores para el servicio dentro de la iglesia local es responsabilidad de la iglesia bajo la dirección de la Palabra de Dios y del Espíritu Santo. El nombramiento del Señor es reconocido tanto por la convicción interna del individuo involucrado, como por la aprobación de la iglesia y los Ancianos observando la posesión de aquellos dones y gracias requeridos por las Escrituras para el servicio en cuestión. Los Ancianos existentes reconocerán a aquellos que ya estén funcionando en el uso de sus dones y los presentarán ante la iglesia para su reconocimiento. Todos los candidatos deben ser miembros de la iglesia por un período de al menos un año antes de ser nominados.
- B. El reconocimiento de un líder es un asunto de tal importancia que nunca debe ser tratado sin oración y sin una lectura honesta de los pasajes pertinentes de las Escrituras y una evaluación franca de los que están siendo considerados como posibles líderes. Cada miembro de la congregación tiene la responsabilidad espiritual de estar inteligentemente informado con respecto a los asuntos arriba mencionados. Debe ser el deseo de la congregación llegar a una sola mente con respecto a los líderes a quienes deben someterse en el Señor, pero si tal unanimidad no se realiza plenamente, se requerirá no menos de una mayoría de 2/3 de los miembros presentes y votantes para la elección de un líder (Artículo IX, Sec5, 6).
- C. Después del reconocimiento final de un líder, se reservará una porción de un culto regular, en el cual el nuevo líder será formalmente apartado para sus responsabilidades por la oración de toda la iglesia y la imposición de las manos de los Ancianos.
- D. Un líder sólo puede ser removido del servicio si descuida su deber, es culpable de conducta pecaminosa, cae en error o sostiene puntos de vista contrarios a nuestra confesión y a la constitución local. Los ancianos deben dirigir el asunto con gran cautela, firmeza e imparcialidad (I Timoteo 5:19). La remoción de un asistente debido a negligencia o pecado es determinada en última instancia por la congregación en un voto mayoritario de 2/3 (Artículo IX, Sec5, 6).
- E. Un líder incapaz de cumplir con sus compromisos debe renunciar a sus deberes o tomar un permiso para ausentarse de su servicio. El líder que solicite una excedencia deberá indicar los motivos y el plazo de la misma. Durante la excedencia, el asistente renuncia a toda autoridad y responsabilidad de servicio. Las excedencias deberán ser aprobadas por los Ancianos.
- F. Si en cualquier momento un líder solicita ser relevado de su servicio, deberá hacerlo por escrito a los Ancianos. Al recibir la notificación de renuncia, los Ancianos informarán a la iglesia en una reunión de negocios especialmente convocada.

#### **ARTÍCULO VIII: Junta Oficial**

### **Sección 1 Función**

El gobierno económico de la iglesia y la dirección de sus negocios, la administración y el control de sus bienes muebles e inmuebles, y la supervisión general de su obra, debe ser bajo la dirección de la Palabra de DIOS y del Espíritu Santo, y serán conferidos a una Junta Oficial.

### **Sección 2 Miembros**

La Junta Oficial estará compuesta por el/los Anciano(s) y Diácono(s). El Pastor actuará como presidente. La Junta elegirá a uno de sus miembros para actuar como Secretario de Actas.

### **Sección 3 Reuniones**

La Junta se reunirá por lo menos una vez cada trimestre para discutir y actuar sobre los asuntos generales de la iglesia local.

## **ARTÍCULO IX: Reuniones de la congregación**

### **Sección 1 Declaración General**

Todos los Miembros deben considerar su presencia en una reunión congregacional debidamente convocada con la misma seriedad con la que considerarían su asistencia a un servicio de adoración establecido. El Señor está presente en poder en la reunión de la iglesia, y por lo tanto todas las reuniones deben llevarse a cabo en un espíritu de adoración y unidad. Toda reunión de la iglesia comenzará y terminará con una oración.

### **Sección 2 Convocatoria**

Se dará aviso de todas las reuniones congregacionales en los servicios regulares de adoración de los dos domingos sucesivos inmediatamente anteriores a las reuniones. En caso de emergencia, se podrá convocar a una reunión con menor antelación, notificando a cada miembro la hora, el lugar y el propósito de la reunión congregacional. Se considerará que un miembro ha sido "notificado" cuando se le contacte por teléfono (ya sea en persona o a través del buzón de voz) o se le notifique por correo electrónico. Las reuniones congregacionales en las que no haya asuntos que tratar por votación podrán ser convocadas a discreción de los Ancianos sin previo aviso.

### **Sección 3 Número de Reuniones**

Las reuniones de la congregación se llevarán a cabo cuando sea necesario para la recepción de informes y la tramitación de otros asuntos que puedan ser debidamente presentados ante la congregación. Se celebrará una reunión congregacional tan pronto como sea posible después del cierre de cada año calendario y se denominará Reunión Congregacional Anual. La adopción de un presupuesto tendrá lugar en la Reunión Congregacional Anual.

### **Sección 4 Método de Convocatoria de Reuniones**

Será derecho y responsabilidad de los Ancianos convocar todas las reuniones de la congregación. Los Ancianos organizarán los detalles de todas las reuniones de la congregación y se asegurarán de que se haga toda la preparación posible para que se lleven a cabo con éxito. Nada será presentado ante la iglesia en las reuniones de la iglesia, excepto a través de los Ancianos.

### **Sección 5 Quórum para la votación de los asistentes al servicio**

Los miembros votantes presentes en cualquier reunión congregacional constitucionalmente convocada se considerarán quórum para la votación de los asistentes. Debe ser nuestra meta buscar la pureza, la paz y la unidad de la iglesia cuando seleccionamos a aquellos a quienes Cristo el Señor ha impartido los dones necesarios para prestar servicio en la iglesia local (Artículo V). Sin embargo, en tales situaciones donde no se logra la unanimidad, se requiere no menos de una mayoría de 2/3 de los votantes para que una moción sea aprobada.

### **Sección 6 Elegibilidad para votar**

Podrán votar todos los miembros activos de la congregación, quienes además deberán tener 20 años de edad o más para poder votar (Números 1:3, Hechos 1:14). Los no miembros que pueden estar presentes en las reuniones de la congregación por invitación especial no tienen privilegios de hablar o votar y deben permanecer en silencio sobre todos los asuntos a menos que sean invitados por los Ancianos y acordado por la congregación para hablar sobre ciertos asuntos.

### **ARTÍCULO X: Disolución**

En caso de disolución de la organización de nuestra iglesia, la propiedad y todos los activos serán vendidos. De los ingresos, en primer lugar, todas las promesas actuales y a largo plazo: obligaciones de la iglesia serán pagadas. En segundo lugar, todos los fondos restantes serán dirigidos por la Junta Oficial (ver Artículo VIII) a una o más organizaciones cristianas calificadas bajo la Sección 501(c)(3) del Código de Rentas Internas. Esta iglesia se considerará disuelta si así lo decide una mayoría de 2/3 de votos en una reunión de la congregación (ver Artículo IX).

### **ARTÍCULO XI: Enmiendas**

Las enmiendas a esta Constitución pueden ser hechas por los ancianos y adoptadas por una mayoría de 2/3 de votos de la congregación en cualquier reunión regular de la congregación o reunión especial convocada para este propósito, siempre y cuando en ambos casos dicha enmienda se distribuya por escrito a los miembros por lo menos dos semanas antes de dicha reunión. Se dará oportunidad para preguntas y discusión de las enmiendas propuestas en una reunión congregacional por lo menos una semana antes de la votación.